



# M22 Design of the phylogenetic indicators

30/11/2023

Author(s): Louise Antonia Hendrickx, Lissa Breugelmans, Maarten Trekels, Quentin Groom



This project receives funding from the European Union's Horizon Europe Research and Innovation Programme (ID No 101059592). Views and opinions expressed are those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or the European Commission. Neither the EU nor the EC can be held responsible for them.



# Table of contents

Summary	3
List of abbreviations	3
1. Introduction	4
2. Role of phylogenetic diversity in ecological processes	6
Community assembly	6
Nature's contributions to people	6
Invasive species	7
3. Practical use of phylogenetic diversity	8
4. Workflow Requirements	9
Functional Requirements	9
Data Input and Validation	9
Diversity Calculation	9
Customization and Filtering	10
Data Export and Visualization	10
User Interface	10
Error Handling and Notifications	
Scalability and Performance	
Non-Functional Requirements	11
Performance	11
Scalability	11
Maintainability and Support	
Compliance and Standards	11
Portability	11
System Architecture	
Description of workflow	11
5. Acknowledgements	13
6. References	





# Summary

Short (maximum 1 page) executive summary of the milestone.

# List of abbreviations

- EU European Union
- IPBES The Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services
- OTL Open Tree of Life
- PD Phylogenetic Diversity
- WDPA World Database on Protected Areas





# 1. Introduction

Phylogenetic diversity (PD) is a measure of biodiversity which takes evolution into account. This measure includes how evolutionary related or distinct species are and might be a good *indicator* for community functional diversity (1). It is calculated as the sum of the lengths of the phylogenetic tree branches representing the minimum tree-spanning path among a group of species (2). PD has many possible applications; it can be used as a guide for conservation purposes, as is the case for the <u>EDGE of Existence Programme</u>, or as a general measure for biodiversity in which we should not aim to conserve specific features, but rather to maximise a variety of features (3). The latter could be particularly useful in light of the changing environmental conditions, as we can only guess which features will be important in the future. Several studies have shown/suggested that high PD is associated with greater ecosystem stability:

- Species assemblages with high native phylogenetic overdispersion are less receptive to exotic species than the phylogenetically clustered assemblages in Himalaya (4)
- Long-term biodiversity–ecosystem function experiment at Cedar Creek, Minnesota, USA for grassland ecosystems: Effect of PD on productivity increased through time and was associated with greater ecosystem stability (5)
- Lab-experiment with 12 protist species: PD stabilises community biomass and promotes community temporal stability by reducing the strength of competition (6)

Many measures of biodiversity exist and they all have their value depending on what you want to calculate or investigate. The most intuitive one is probably **species richness**, which is defined as the number of species within a given region (7). It is easy to understand and to measure and can often be used as a surrogate for other measures that are harder to quantify (8). Based on the scale of the region, species richness is divided into three categories. Alpha diversity measures the species richness in an area smaller than the entire distribution of the species. Beta diversity looks at the change of species richness across regions. Gamma diversity is defined as the species richness in an entire region (7). Species richness, however, does not take each individual species' identity into account. It considers all species as equally valuable (3), which is more nuanced in reality. It is also more sensitive to taxonomic inflation associated with sampling effort (9).

Ecosystem functioning is probably determined by more than just the number of species, and this is where **functional trait diversity** comes in. Functional traits relate to how species acquire, share and conserve resources (10). *Violle et al.* (2007) define functional traits as "morpho-physio-phenological traits which impact fitness indirectly via their effects on growth, reproduction and survival, the three components of individual performance" (11). They can thus support both contributions to ecosystem properties and services, and tolerance to environmental stressors and disturbances (12). The lack of functional trait data for many organisms is a major limitation, whereas PD is much more feasible to calculate. As they have similar abilities to predict biodiversity effects, PD can be a valuable proxy for FD (13). Although there is increasing evidence that ecologically relevant traits show as much phylogenetic conservatism as reproductive and other taxonomic relevant traits(14–16), at least in some cases





there seems to be a lack of correlation between FD & PD in a community of a given species richness (13). Due to convergent evolution it is quite possible to have a large PD and a small FD. Likewise, diversification between closely related species might mean a small PD and a large FD.

Several studies of *Cadotte et al.* have shown that PD can predict community productivity better than other measures of diversity, such as species richness or functional group diversity (1,17). Other studies even suggest that PD would promote ecosystem stability, most likely through reduced competition or increased facilitative interactions for communities with distantly related species (5,6). Based on this, it is suggested to maximise evolutionary diversity if the goal is to maximise community functionality in habitat restoration (1). On the other hand, a re-analysis of 16 PD experiments conducted in grassland ecosystems has questioned these findings. By using an updated phylogeny, they found that species richness was a superior predictor of community productivity and stability compared to PD. Although they found a significant relationship between PD and community productivity, it was not sufficiently related to ecosystem stability and was therefore concluded to be an inferior predictor compared to species richness (18).

Whether species richness, functional trait diversity, or phylogenetic diversity is the most useful measure of biodiversity, is a question of great concern to the scientific community, for which no consensus has been found yet and therefore there is a need to provide workflows that can calculate these metrics rapidly so that their behaviour can be studied under different situations and scales.

Attempts to reduce biodiversity loss are not helped by the existence of numerous measures for biodiversity, combined with a lack of consensus about which one to monitor. The Essential Biodiversity Variables (EBV) framework tries to tackle this by defining a minimum set of essential measurements to capture the major dimensions of biodiversity change (19). The difficulty of having 6 EBV classes with 21 EBV names and respective metrics is that in a real ecosystem, there will always be incomplete. According to *Lean and Maclaurin* (2016), a more general measure for biodiversity is needed for large-scale environmental decision making. They suggest conserving a maximal variety of features instead of conserving particular features. Since it is difficult to measure features directly, they suggest using PD as a general measure, as it reflects the evolutionary processes that cause functional & morphological divergence within lineages (3).

Within the maze of biodiversity measures, a multitude of PD metrics adds on to even more complexity. Luckily, *Tucker et al.* (2017) provide some clear guidelines on making informed decisions about the use of PD metrics. They collected 70 existing PD metrics and divided them into three dimensions: richness (how much?), divergence (how different?), regularity\* (how regular?), which can be further subdivided according to the level of comparison (alfa or beta diversity) (20). Faith's PD index, for example, is one of the most widely used metrics of phylogenetic diversity and is defined as the sum of the length of phylogenetic tree branches representing the minimum tree-spanning path among a group of species. According to the mentioned guidelines, this metric would be categorised in the richness dimension and can be





used when you want to calculate what the total evolutionary history is within (or between) assemblages.

# 2. Role of phylogenetic diversity in ecological processes

### Community assembly

Community assembly is a very complex process for which three traditional theories exist (16). The niche theory emphasises the importance of performance-related traits and says that niche-related processes such as environmental filtering and competition determine community assembly (16,21). The theory of neutral processes, on the other hand, states that species differences and species-environment interactions are irrelevant for community assembly because species are ecologically equivalent; therefore, community assembly is a random process (16,22). A third theory brings in an evolutionary perspective by stating that community assembly is mostly determined by historical events such as speciation, adaptation, extinction, dispersal, and disturbances (16,23).

*Cavender-Bares et al.* (2009) present an overview of studies which revealed many different processes causing non-random phylogenetic community structure, questioning the theory of neutral processes. One of them is the study of *Maherali & Klironomos* who use an ecologically realistic model of a mycorrhizal plant community to show that species richness is highest in assembled communities that are phylogenetically overdispersed (24). Other studies consistent with the niche complementarity concept are the one of *Gerhold et al.* in which the results indicate that evolutionary history predicts the size of the regional species pool, with a larger PD leading to a larger regional species pool (25); or the one of *Chaves et al* showing a causal relationship between PD & community assembly in which there was a higher resistance of phylogenetic diverse assemblages to drought (26).

Whether PD is a driver or consequence of community assembly, is still unclear. The assessment also largely depends on the choice of the null model and taxonomic, geographic, and ecological scales (27). Nevertheless, phylogenetic information can only enrich ecological studies and allows us to consider phenomena occurring over broader temporal and spatial scales (16,28).

#### Nature's contributions to people

Nature's contributions to people (NCP) are defined by the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES) as "all the contributions, both positive and negative, of living nature to the quality of life for people". PD is recognised by IPBES as an indicator of "maintenance of options", one of the 18 categories of NCP.

Anthropogenic drivers have widespread effects on ecosystems and their services. Traditionally, changes in NCP are predicted based on species richness, but this can only account for a part of the explanation (29). Cardinale *et al.* review two decades of research on the influence of biodiversity loss on ecosystem functions & services and state there is sufficient evidence that ecological consequences of biodiversity loss can be predicted from evolutionary history (30).





Also *Srivastava et al.* argue that community structure influences NCP through functional traits, niches, and species interactions, for which phylogeny could be a common denominator (29). The exact mechanisms of how PD is involved in NCP are only starting to be understood on an individual level, and a lot of work still needs to be done on the community level. To create a better understanding of these mechanisms, PD should be manipulated independently of species richness, something that has only been researched by *Maherali & Klironomos* so far.

To test the vulnerability of a system, *Díaz et al.* suggest correlating Specific Effect Functions, Specific Response Functions, and phylogenies. They define a Specific Effect Function (SEF) as "a species' per unit capacity to influence an ecosystem property or service"; and a Specific Response Function (SRF) as "the ability of a species to maintain/enhance its quantity in response to specified change in abiotic or biotic environment or to invade this environment afresh". Ecosystem functioning & services are mostly dependent on SEFs, but the correlation of SEFs, SRFs, and phylogenies could show the potential of ecosystems to deliver function under different environmental changes (12).

The utility of phylogenies in NCP depends on the strength of the phylogenetic signal of the functional traits that are relevant for the ecosystem functioning. Therefore, in case of a strong phylogenetic signal, phylogenies can be of added value to deepen the understanding of functional diversity, as PD data are more readily available (29).

#### **Invasive species**

Invasive species are among the most impactful drivers of biodiversity change (31). Several studies have been trying to find the correlation between species richness of a community and its susceptibility to invasion, leading to opposite conclusions (32,33). It has been suggested that evolutionary differences should be taken into account, but also in these kinds of studies, conflicting evidence has been found for increased susceptibility to invasion by exotic species that are more related (34) or less related (35) to native species or for communities that are phylogenetically clustered (36,37) or phylogenetically dispersed (38). Villalobos et al. propose to use their phylogenetic field concept, defined as the phylogenetic structure of species co-occurrence within a focal species' geographical range (39). Instead of focussing solely on site-based analyses, this approach takes into account the phylogenetic structure of the recipient assemblage (representing the site invasibility) combined with the phylogenetic relatedness between an exotic species and the recipient (representing the alien species invasiveness). Kusumoto et al. found mainly the following two scenarios to be true for the flora in Japan: phylogenetically clustered environments were mainly invaded by exotics from the same major clades as the native species, with environmental filtering plaving a predominant role (pre-adaptation hypothesis); while phylogenetically overdispersed environments were mainly invaded by phylogenetically distinct exotics, showing a predominant role for biotic filtering (naturalisation hypothesis). They concluded that Darwin's conflicting preadaptation and naturalisation hypotheses both apply, depending on the context (40). Naturally, there are other factors that play a role in the invasion process that are not necessarily reflected in a phylogeny, such as random dispersal, and human-mediated introduction or disturbances, but phylogenies





could nonetheless be of added value to anticipate the invasibility of a recipient assemblage for individual exotic species (40).

# 3. Practical use of phylogenetic diversity

Slowly but surely, phylogenetic indicators are being incorporated into policy. First, some IPBES assessments have used a PD indicator as the percentage of a taxonomic group's PD that is represented by threatened species, and is recognised by IPBES as an indicator for maintenance of options. Second, the expected loss of PD is an indicator recognised by the Global Biodiversity Framework and represents the amount of evolutionary history expected to be lost in a given amount of time based on the current extinction risks faced by the set of species. Third, EDGE provides a priority list of species that are evolutionarily distinct and globally endangered. Finally, a PD Task Force exists within the framework of the IUCN, who provide leadership, guidance and expertise on the inclusion of PD in conservation strategies for practitioners, decision-makers, and the public.

These three indicators most currently used in policy, are all species-based rather than area-based. A metric that gives information about how well PD of a certain higher taxonomic group is currently safeguarded by protected areas and a spatial visualisation which can be used to identify potential directions for future expansion of protected areas is thus of particular interest. Therefore, we will design a workflow (see diagram) to calculate and visualize the overlap between protected areas and high phylogenetically diverse area. The input for the workflow will be a generated data cube of occurrences of a selected higher taxon, as well as a phylogenetic tree. We will test cubes of different resolutions in order to determine which one is appropriate, on a national level, with Belgium and South-Africa as test cases. Subsequently, the Biodiverse software will calculate the PD metric for each grid cell. This PD variable will be reclassified as low or high PD (see below). This output will be spatially depicted and overlayed with a layer of protected areas from the World Database on Protected Areas. The proportion of high PD areas encompassed by protected areas can then be calculated. Although we will attempt to produce an application that can visualise the evolution of this metric through time, the quality of historical data will be most likely too low to produce a reliable and usable result. An area is considered to be of high PD if it is higher than the 'expected PD'. One possible way to determine this is by using the Net Relatedness Index (NRI) and Nearest Taxon Index (NTI). For the calculation of NRI and NTI, the null model "pool.taxa.labels" (phylogeny pool) in the R library Picante could be used (41). This corresponds to a shuffle of phylogeny tip labels (across all taxa included in the phylogenetic tree). A significantly positive NRI or NTI indicates an underdispersed or clustered community that contains more phylogenetically closely related species than expected by chance. A significantly negative NRI or NTI means that the community is overdispersed; that is, it contains more distantly related species than expected by chance (36). Although this seems like a valid option, further analysis is needed to determine which method will be implemented.





It could also be useful to calculate complementarity scores to identify areas for which there are few substitute areas. PD complementarity is the sum of the additional branch length gained if an area is added to a set of areas (42).

In order to identify areas that could be protected to maximise the overall PD, we will also calculate the expected gain of PD if we protect an additional area. Likewise, we can calculate the expected loss of PD for grid cells within protected areas, to identify those areas of particular significance. Avoiding damage to these areas would minimise PD losses for little cost (43).

# 4. Workflow Requirements

## **Functional Requirements**

#### Data Input and Validation

Phase 1:

- Ability to import GBIF occurrence data cubes. The minimum requirement is support for CSV and NetCDF format cubes. The aim is to ensure all cube formats produced by B3 are supported. (Additional potential format list: Apache Parquet, Apache Avro, GeoJSON, GeoParquet, GeoTIFF, HDF5, JSON, PMTiles, ZARR)
- Retrieval of published phylogenetic trees with branch lengths from <u>Open Tree of Life</u> (OTL)

Phase 2:

- When the minimum viable product has been produced, remaining time and resources will be evaluated. When possible, the product will be further developed to support importing of any occurrence data cube and any phylogenetic tree (Newick format).
- Validation of data input by the user for format, completeness, and consistency:
  - imported data cubes must have one of the supported file formats (see above)
  - data cubes must contain the following column headers: year, CellCode, speciesKey, n, minCoordinateUncertaintyInMeters
  - o cellcodes must correspond to one of the supported grid systems
  - imported phylogenetic trees must be in the Newick format
  - phylogenetic trees must contain branch lengths
  - all taxonID's in the data cube must be represented in the phylogenetic tree

#### **Diversity Calculation**

- Calculation of phylogenetic diversity metrics (e.g., Evolutionary Distinctiveness (ED), Phylogenetic Abundance (PA), Phylogenetic Diversity (PD), Relative Phylogenetic Diversity)
- Options to select the specific taxa or groups in diversity calculations
- Ability to handle large datasets and complex calculations efficiently





• Allow for the calculation of expected PD loss per species included in the dataset. Options will be made available to perform this on all species or a pre-defined subset of species.

### **Customization and Filtering**

- Customizable parameters for phylogenetic analysis. The minimum set of adjustable parameters are:
  - selection of corresponding grid used for data cube generation
  - selection of a phylogenetic diversity metric
  - the threshold for reclassifying the diversity metrics into 'high' and 'low' classes
  - the GIS polygon layer for which the indicator is calculated (World Database on Protected Areas (WDPA) polygon layer and potentially additional layers provided, possibility to upload own polygon-layer)
- Filters for selecting subsets of data based on various criteria. The minimum set of filters that is aimed for is:
  - o taxon
  - type of observation (eg. human observation or preserved specimen, i.e. <u>dwc:basisOfRecord</u>)

#### Data Export and Visualization

- Export of indicator results in CSV format
- Export of data cube with appended phylogenetic diversity metrics
- Export of diversity metrics per grid cell as a raster file, suitable for integration with GIS software
- Generation of run reports including methodology, parameters used, and interpretation of results

#### User Interface

- Near real-time feedback and visualisation during the analysis process
- Minimum viable product is a workflow written in R contained in a Jupyter / Rmarkdown / Databricks notebook

### **Error Handling and Notifications**

- Robust error detection and handling for all stages of the workflow
- Notifications and alerts for process completion, errors, or required user input
- Logging of user actions and system events for troubleshooting

#### Scalability and Performance

- Optimised for high-performance computing environments
- Scalable to accommodate large datasets and complex phylogenies





• Efficient use of computational resources for large-scale analyses

# Non-Functional Requirements

#### Performance

- Upon delivery of the product, hardware specifications will be provided to ensure optimal performance
- Product will be tested and estimates of expected response times will be provided to the user
- Efficient handling of large datasets without significant performance degradation

#### Scalability

- Ability to handle increasing data volumes or user numbers without loss of performance
- Scalable architecture to accommodate future expansion in terms of data or functionality
- Efficient resource utilisation that scales with system demand

### Maintainability and Support

- Scripts and code developed for this indicator will be stored on the B-Cubed GitHub repository. Citable releases will be pushed to Zenodo
- Modular design for easy maintenance and updates
- Clear documentation for system maintenance and troubleshooting. Documentation will be stored on the B-cubed GitHub documentation website. This will include runnable code snippets..
- Folder with test datasets and repeatable test scripts on GitHub to ensure viability of software updates

#### **Compliance and Standards**

- Compliance with TDWG, data cube, and phylogenetic standards
- Adherence to best practices in phylogenetic analysis and data handling
- The ability to update if there is a need to comply with evolving standards and regulations

#### Portability

- Ease of system migration to different environments that support R code (e.g. Microsoft Planetary computer)
- Minimal dependency on specific hardware or software configurations

### System Architecture

#### Description of workflow





The final product will be presented as a Jupyter, Rmarkdown or Databricks notebook which integrates the components of the workflow as runnable R scripts and documents the step-by-step process.

The workflow's architecture is presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1: The components of PhyloIndicatoR, an R notebook to produce a phylogenetic indicator for conservation planning using species occurrence data cubes and a published phylogenetic tree as input.

The workflow requires an occurrence cube as input, which the user will be able to generate through the GBIF download functionality when WP2 of the B3 project is implemented. Users will be able to fully customise this cube in terms of applying data filters and adding additional dimensions. We refer to Deliverable 2.1 'Specification for species occurrence cubes and their production' (44) for more details on the options for customization that will be implemented. In addition, the user will be able to select a published phylogenetic tree with branch lengths to be imported from OTL. This will be implemented by using rot1, an R package to interact with the Open Tree of Life data. Alternatively, auto-retrieval of the relevant phylogenetic tree from OTL based on the taxonID's in the data cube can be implemented. Input data will then be validated for format, completeness, and consistency. The user will be offered the option to filter out certain taxa to create a subset of the data cube. Subsequently, Biodiverse software will be called through the BiodiverseR (45) package to take the data





cube and phylogenetic tree as input. Users will be able to specify which phylogenetic biodiversity metric(s) will be calculated. In case PD loss (the amount of phylogenetic diversity lost when a certain taxon would disappear) is selected, the user will be able to select for which taxa this metric is calculated. Biodiverse will use the supplied data cube and phylogenetic tree to calculate the selected metrics for each grid cell, and the results will be written to a .csv file. The user will be prompted to select a method for determining a threshold value for the PD metric, in order to differentiate between low and high PD grid cells. The calculated values of the metrics and the boolean for low or high PD grid cell will be appended as attributes to a shapefile layer of the reference grid used in creation of the cube and overlaid with a WDPA polygon layer of protected areas. The user will also be able to upload a different polygon layer with protected areas of interest to them. The percentage of high PD area encompassed by protected areas will be calculated by performing a spatial join between the grid layer and polygon layer of protected areas. The results will be visualised as maps for each selected metric with scores per grid cell and the protected area polygons. The results with the metric scores per grid cell will also be appended to the original data cube and available for download in the supported data cube formats. The calculated values of the indicators (proportion of high PD area encompassed by protected areas and PD loss) will be exported as a .csv file.

# 5. Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Shawn Laffan, Vladimir Mikrryukov, and Joe Miller for their constructive feedback on the conceptualisation of the workflow and during meetings. We also want to thank Shawn Dove and Andrew Rodrigues for providing comments on the draft of this milestone, which has certainly improved the quality of it.





# 6. References

- 1. Cadotte MW, Cavender-Bares J, Tilman D, Oakley TH. Using Phylogenetic, Functional and Trait Diversity to Understand Patterns of Plant Community Productivity. Freckleton RP, editor. PLoS ONE. 2009 May 27;4(5):e5695.
- 2. Faith DP. Conservation evaluation and phylogenetic diversity. Biological Conservation. 1992;61(1):1–10.
- Lean C, Maclaurin J. The Value of Phylogenetic Diversity. In: Pellens R, Grandcolas P, editors. Biodiversity Conservation and Phylogenetic Systematics [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2016 [cited 2023 Jun 12]. p. 19–37. (Topics in Biodiversity and Conservation; vol. 14). Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-22461-9 2

 Manish K. Species richness, phylogenetic diversity and phylogenetic structure patterns of exotic and native plants along an elevational gradient in the Himalaya. Ecol Process. 2021

- Ecol Process. 2021
  Dec;10(1):64.
  Cadotte MW, Dinnage R, Tilman D. Phylogenetic diversity promotes ecosystem stability.
- Cadotte MW, Dinnage R, Tilman D. Phylogenetic diversity promotes ecosystem stability. Ecology. 2012 Aug;93(sp8):S223–33.
- 6. Pu Z, Daya P, Tan J, Jiang L. Phylogenetic diversity stabilizes community biomass. Journal of Plant Ecology. 2014 Apr 1;7(2):176–87.
- Moore JC. Diversity, Taxonomic versus Functional. In: Encyclopedia of Biodiversity [Internet]. Elsevier; 2013 [cited 2023 Jul 3]. p. 648–56. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9780123847195000368
- Kiester AR. Species Diversity, Overview. In: Encyclopedia of Biodiversity [Internet]. Elsevier; 2013 [cited 2023 Jul 3]. p. 706–14. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9780123847195001337
- Potter KM, Woodall CW. Trends over time in tree and seedling phylogenetic diversity indicate regional differences in forest biodiversity change. Ecological Applications. 2012;22(2):517–31.
- 10. Gross N, Bagousse-Pinguet YL, Liancourt P, Berdugo M, Gotelli NJ, Maestre FT. Functional trait diversity maximizes ecosystem multifunctionality. Nat Ecol Evol. 2017 Apr 18;1(5):0132.
- 11. Violle C, Navas ML, Vile D, Kazakou E, Fortunel C, Hummel I, et al. Let the concept of trait be functional! Oikos. 2007 May;116(5):882–92.
- Díaz S, Purvis A, Cornelissen JHC, Mace GM, Donoghue MJ, Ewers RM, et al. Functional traits, the phylogeny of function, and ecosystem service vulnerability. Ecol Evol. 2013 Sep;3(9):2958–75.
- Flynn DFB, Mirotchnick N, Jain M, Palmer MI, Naeem S. Functional and phylogenetic diversity as predictors of biodiversity- Ecosystem-function relationships. Ecology. 2011;92(8):1573–81.
- 14. Prinzing A, Durka W, Klotz S, Brandl R. The niche of higher plants: evidence for phylogenetic conservatism. Proc R Soc Lond B. 2001 Nov 22;268(1483):2383–9.
- 15. Donoghue MJ. A phylogenetic perspective on the distribution of plant diversity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2008 Aug 12;105(supplement\_1):11549–55.
- 16. Cavender-Bares J, Kozak KH, Fine PVA, Kembel SW. The merging of community ecology and phylogenetic biology. Ecology Letters. 2009 Jul;12(7):693–715.
- 17. Cadotte MW, Cardinale BJ, Oakley TH. Evolutionary history and the effect of biodiversity on plant productivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2008 Nov 4;105(44):17012–7.
- 18. Venail P, Gross K, Oakley TH, Narwani A, Allan E, Flombaum P, et al. Data from: Species richness, but not phylogenetic diversity, influences community biomass production and temporal stability in a re-examination of 16 grassland biodiversity studies [Internet]. Dryad;





2016 [cited 2023 Jul 14]. p. 174979 bytes. Available from:

https://datadryad.org/stash/dataset/doi:10.5061/dryad.s2h01

- 19. Pereira HM, Ferrier S, Walters M, Geller GN, Jongman RHG, Scholes RJ, et al. Essential Biodiversity Variables. Science. 2013 Jan 18;339(6117):277–8.
- 20. Tucker CM, Cadotte MW, Carvalho SB, Davies TJ, Ferrier S, Fritz SA, et al. A guide to phylogenetic metrics for conservation, community ecology and macroecology: A guide to phylogenetic metrics for ecology. Biol Rev. 2017 May;92(2):698–715.
- 21. Cody ML, Diamond JM, editors. Ecology and evolution of communities. Cambridge, Mass: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press; 1975. 545 p.
- 22. Hubbell SP. The Unified Neutral Theory of Biodiversity and Biogeography (MPB-32). Core Textbook. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; 2011.
- 23. Ricklefs RE. Community Diversity: Relative Roles of Local and Regional Processes. Science. 1987;235(4785):167–71.
- 24. Maherali H, Klironomos JN. Influence of Phylogeny on Fungal Community Assembly and Ecosystem Functioning. Science. 2007 Jun 22;316(5832):1746–8.
- 25. Gerhold P, Pärtel M, Liira J, Zobel K, Prinzing A. Phylogenetic structure of local communities predicts the size of the regional species pool. Journal of Ecology. 2008 Jul;96(4):709–12.
- 26. Chaves R, Ferrandis P, Escudero A, Luzuriaga AL. Diverse phylogenetic neighborhoods enhance community resistance to drought in experimental assemblages. Sci Rep. 2021 Nov 18;11(1):22499.
- 27. Emerson BC, Gillespie RG. Phylogenetic analysis of community assembly and structure over space and time. Trends in Ecology & Evolution. 2008 Nov;23(11):619–30.
- 28. Webb CO, Ackerly DD, McPeek MA, Donoghue MJ. Phylogenies and Community Ecology. Annu Rev Ecol Syst. 2002 Nov;33(1):475–505.
- 29. Srivastava DS, Cadotte MW, MacDonald AAM, Marushia RG, Mirotchnick N. Phylogenetic diversity and the functioning of ecosystems. Mooers A, editor. Ecology Letters. 2012 Jul;15(7):637–48.
- 30. Cardinale BJ, Duffy JE, Gonzalez A, Hooper DU, Perrings C, Venail P, et al. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature. 2012 Jun 7;486(7401):59–67.
- McGeoch MA, Arlé E, Belmaker J, Buba Y, Clarke DA, Essl F, et al. Policy-relevant indicators for invasive alien species assessment and reporting [Internet]. Ecology; 2021 Aug [cited 2023 Jun 12]. Available from: http://biorxiv.org/lookup/doi/10.1101/2021.08.26.457851
- 32. Kennedy TA, Naeem S, Howe KM, Knops JMH, Tilman D, Reich P. Biodiversity as a barrier to ecological invasion. Nature. 2002 Jun;417(6889):636–8.
- Stohlgren TJ, Binkley D, Chong GW, Kalkhan MA, Schell LD, Bull KA, et al. EXOTIC PLANT SPECIES INVADE HOT SPOTS OF NATIVE PLANT DIVERSITY. Ecological Monographs. 1999 Feb;69(1):25–46.
- 34. Qian H. Intercontinental comparison of phylogenetic relatedness in introduced plants at the transition from naturalization to invasion: A case study on the floras of South Africa and China. Plant Diversity. 2023 Feb;S2468265923000318.
- 35. Strauss SY, Webb CO, Salamin N. Exotic taxa less related to native species are more invasive. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2006 Apr 11;103(15):5841–5.
- 36. Yessoufou K, Bezeng BS, Gaoue OG, Bengu T, Van Der Bank M. Phylogenetically diverse native systems are more resistant to invasive plant species on Robben Island, South Africa. Genome. 2019 Mar;62(3):217–28.
- Gerhold P, Pärtel M, Tackenberg O, Hennekens SM, Bartish I, Schaminée JHJ, et al. Phylogenetically Poor Plant Communities Receive More Alien Species, Which More Easily Coexist with Natives. The American Naturalist. 2011 May;177(5):668–80.
- 38. Qian H, Sandel B. Darwin's preadaptation hypothesis and the phylogenetic structure of native and alien regional plant assemblages across North America. Meireles JE, editor.





Global Ecol Biogeogr. 2022 Mar;31(3):531–45.

- 39. Villalobos F, Rangel TF, Diniz-Filho JAF. Phylogenetic fields of species: cross-species patterns of phylogenetic structure and geographical coexistence. Proc R Soc B. 2013 Apr 7;280(1756):20122570.
- 40. Kusumoto B, Villalobos F, Shiono T, Kubota Y. Reconciling Darwin's naturalization and pre-adaptation hypotheses: An inference from phylogenetic fields of exotic plants in Japan. J Biogeogr. 2019 Nov;46(11):2597–608.
- 41. Kembel SW, Cowan PD, Helmus MR, Cornwell WK, Morlon H, Ackerly DD, et al. Picante: R tools for integrating phylogenies and ecology. Bioinformatics. 2010 Jun 1;26(11):1463–4.
- 42. Laity T, Laffan SW, González-Orozco CE, Faith DP, Rosauer DF, Byrne M, et al. Phylodiversity to inform conservation policy: An Australian example. Science of The Total Environment. 2015 Nov;534:131–43.
- 43. Robuchon M, Pavoine S, Véron S, Delli G, Faith DP, Mandrici A, et al. Revisiting species and areas of interest for conserving global mammalian phylogenetic diversity. Nat Commun. 2021 Jun 17;12(1):3694.
- 44. Desmet P, Oldoni D, Blissett M, Robertson T. B3 D2.1: Specification for species occurrence cubes and their production. 2023 Jun.
- 45. Laffan, S. Biodiverse [Source code]. 2023. https://github.com/shawnlaffan/BiodiverseR/.

